
 

 
 

VILLAGE OF LINDENHURST 
Finance Committee Meeting Agenda 

Monday, November 6, 2023 
7:30 p.m. 

 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

II. Approval of Minutes of the Finance Committee Meeting of February 23, 2023 
 
III. New Business 

A. Discussion and Recommendation:  2023 Property Tax Levy 
 

IV. Public Comment 
 
V. Adjournment 
 



LINDENHURST FINANCE COMMITTEE 
MEETING MINUTES 

February 23, 2023 
7:30 pm 

 
 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
Chairman Dunham called the meeting to order at 7:30 pm.  
 
ROLL CALL 
Present were Chairman Pat Dunham, Trustee Dawn Suchy, and Trustee Pat Dickson.  
 
Also in attendance were Village Administrator Clay Johnson and Village Clerk Jody 
Stoughtenger.  
 
  
APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES   
Minutes from the Finance Committee Meeting of January 27, 2023, were presented for 
approval.  
 
Trustee Dickson made a motion, seconded by Trustee Suchy, to approve the minutes from 
the Finance Committee Meeting of January 27, 2023, as presented.  
 
VOICE VOTE   
Aye - 3                                            
Nay - 0 

 
Motion carried. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
A.  Discussion and Recommendation: 2023 Updated Draft Capital Improvement Plan 

 
Village Administrator Johnson provided an update on the 2023 Draft Capital 
Improvement Plan. In early February, the Village was awarded additional money from 
the Lake County Council of Mayors for the Lake Shore Drive Reconstruction Project. The 
award of additional funds toward the project resulted in Village staff and engineering 
consultants examining the project to adjust costs due to inflation. Based on new funding 
and updated project costs, the Finance Committee was asked to consider extending the 
limits of Phase 1 construction of the roadway project near Linden’s Landing. The 
Finance Committee discussed ending Phase 1 of the Lake Shore Drive Project at either 
Witchwood Lane or Rolling Ridge Lane. The Committee noted that if the project was 
extended to Rolling Ridge, the Village could make additional improvements to Linden’s 
Landing. Extending the project limits will also allow residents to access amenities 
through sidewalks and crosswalks easily.  
 
Trustee Suchy made a motion, seconded by Trustee Dickson, to recommend the 
updated draft of the 2023 Community Capital Plan to include additional funding for the 
Lake Shore Drive Project to include Rolling Ridge Lane to the Village Board.  

 



                                                                                               Lindenhurst Finance Committee 
                                                                                                                  Meeting Minutes 
                                                                                                                 February 23, 2023  
                                                                                                                                       Page 2 

 
VOICE VOTE   
Aye - 3                                            
Nay - 0 

 
Motion carried. 
 
B.  Discussion and Recommendation: Village of Lindenhurst 2023 Forecast and Utility 

Rates 
 

Village Administrator Johnson presented an overview of the 2023 draft financial forecast. 
The projection for the General Fund has included updates for the new step system for 
the Police Department, projected tax revenue, and a building permit revenue estimate 
based on the Briargate Housing Development.  
 
Village Administrator Johnson provided an overview of the utility fund. Administrator 
Johnson explained that CLCJAWA has increased their rate for water supply for this fiscal 
year and next fiscal year based on the results from a recent study of water rates. The 
Village’s forecast did not include an increase in the water or sewer rate for FY 24. The 
first increase in water and sewer rates was projected for FY 25 and would be a 3% 
increase. Trustee Suchy asked if the Committee should consider a 1% increase for FY 
24 to raise the increment of rates on residents slowly. The Finance Committee could 
revisit the rate adjustments in FY 25. Trustee Dickson agreed with slowly increasing the 
rate.  
 
Village Administrator Johnson explained that the expenses within the utility fund could 
be decreased by the newly proposed Information Technology (IT) Fund. This fund is 
proposed to combine Village shared IT expenses instead of splitting the costs between 
different funds, including the general and water/sewer fund. If recommended, the IT 
Fund would cover all projected costs with the revenue received from the cell antenna 
lease fees.  
 
Trustee Dickson asked how the moving of IT-related costs to a separate fund could 
impact the costs of the water and sewer rates. Village Administrator Johnson explained 
that the shared IT costs in water/sewer Administration for cell phones, computer 
services, and software support would move to a separate fund. The allocation of the 
expenses would change between the funds. The Committee supported the moving of IT-
related funds to a newly created IT fund.   
 
Trustee Suchy made a motion, seconded by Trustee Dickson, to recommend a 1% 
increase to the water/sewer rates to the Village Board.  

 
VOICE VOTE   
Aye - 3                                            
Nay – 0 
 
Motion carried. 
 
 



                                                                                               Lindenhurst Finance Committee 
                                                                                                                  Meeting Minutes 
                                                                                                                 February 23, 2023  
                                                                                                                                       Page 3 

 
Village Administrator Johnson provided an overview of the Garbage Fund. The Village’s 
contract with Groot is expected to increase at the end of calendar year 2023. The 
financial forecast assumes a 3% increase in revenues beginning January 1. The Finance 
Committee discussed when to implement a 3% rate increase, either starting January 
2024 or May 1. Trustee Suchy made a motion, seconded by Trustee Dickson, to 
recommend a 3% increase to the garbage rates beginning on May 1 to the Village 
Board.  
 

VOICE VOTE   
Aye - 3                                            
Nay - 0 

 
Motion carried. 

 
Village Administrator Johnson provided an overview of projections in the forecast for the 
other Village Funds that included MFT, Retirement, and Insurance. When discussing the 
Vehicle Replacement Fund, Administrator Johnson noted that Village staff will 
investigate alternatives to fund vehicle replacements for departments due to the 
inflationary costs of vehicles.   

 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   
None 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT        
Trustee Suchy made a motion, seconded by Trustee Dickson, to adjourn the meeting.  
 
VOICE VOTE   
Aye - 3                                            
Nay - 0 

 
Motion carried. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:05 pm. 
 
 
Date Approved ___________________ 

 
 
_______________________________                  ________________________________ 
Patrick Dunham, Chairman         Melissa Forsberg, Village Clerk 



 

 
2301 E. Sand Lake Road • www.lindenhurstil.org • mail@lindenhurstil.org • (847) 356-8252 

 

 
DATE: November 3, 2023 
 
TO:  Chairman and Members of the Finance Committee 
 
FROM:  Clay T. Johnson, Village Administrator  
 
RE:  Finance Committee Meeting Supplement for November 6, 2023 
 
New Business 
A. Discussion and Recommendation:  2023 Property Tax Levy 

Each year the Village must adopt its property tax levy prior to the end of the calendar 
year. The levy adopted in 2023 will result in property tax receipts for the Village in the 
year 2024 impacting the FY 24/25 budget year. The Village must comply with the state 
adopted Property Tax Extension Limitation law (PTELL), which limits the increased 
dollars the Village can request in its property tax levy. Under the tax cap law, the 
Village is entitled to increase dollars equal to the consumer price index for the 
previous year (5% for the 2023 levy) plus new dollars generated from new property 
(construction of new buildings/annexations in the previous assessment year) which 
appears on the tax rolls for the first time (these additional new property dollars can 
only be included in the first year after the construction is added to the tax base). The 
law allows the additional revenues from new construction so that the districts serving 
this new construction receive additional revenues to pay for the increased service 
levels generated by the construction. The generation of these additional new property 
dollars has no effect on the property tax bills of unchanged homes and businesses.  
 
The Truth in Taxation law establishes procedures taxing districts must follow when 
developing the annual tax levy. The law requires that the Board determine an 
estimate of the proposed tax levy amount prior to passage of the tax levy ordinance.  
The Village Board first estimates its expected expenditures for the upcoming fiscal 
year and determines the amount of property taxes needed to support the expenses. 
 
Truth in Taxation also requires that a public hearing be held if the levy amount is 
greater than 5% from the preceding year.   
 
Property taxes represent only about 10% of the Village’s overall revenues and about 
12% of General Fund revenues.  However, property taxes support other Village funds 
beyond the General (sometimes called “Corporate”) Fund.  Property taxes help to 

MEMORANDUM 



 

 
2301 E. Sand Lake Road • www.lindenhurstil.org • mail@lindenhurstil.org • (847) 356-8252 

 

support a portion, if not all, of the Village’s Liability Insurance, IMRF withholdings, 
federal payroll taxes, and Police Pension Funds.  The following sections will discuss 
each component of the levy and their impact on the overall calculation of the property 
taxes received by the Village. 
 
Police Pension 
Lauderbach and Amen have completed their actuarial report which estimates the tax 
levy needed to meet the pension obligations per state law.  This report indicates that 
the percent funded of our pension fell by 5.36% from 79.44% to 74.08% as of May 1, 
2023. This reduction in funding percentage is despite the fact that the fund’s asset 
growth was $258,400 during the same time period.  However, this amount was less 
than expected. 
 
Long-term cash flow out is one of the primary drivers in determining the 
determination of liability of the fund.  With respect to that, in the next five years 
benefit payments are expected to increase by 60-65% and 145-150% in the next 10 
years.  This is in anticipation of impending and future retirements.  Additionally, the 
recommended contribution includes an amount that is paid toward the Village’s 
unfunded liability, or the 25.92% which is the inverse of the percent funded of the 
fund.  Another contributing factor to the recommended contribution is the number 
of new officers hired within the auditing window.  In this case, five new officers were 
hired during the year.  These new hires resulted in an increase in obligation of almost 
$94,000 alone.  All these factors in combination lead toward a recommended 
contribution amount of $641,884 – an increase of $169,539 from the previous 
valuation.   
 
IMRF 
The Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund is a retirement benefit provided to all full-time, 
non-sworn police employees and is a group managed pension benefit system. In FY 
24, the Village’s contribution rate for IMRF was 8.33% which was quite a reduction 
from the previous year.  IMRF is yet to publish their final contribution rates for the 
upcoming fiscal year, but their estimates indicate that the rate for FY 24 is 8.16%.  This 
contribution rate is less than what was originally forecasted at 8.58%.    
 
Social Security (FICA) 
This levy component is very similar to IMRF and is used to support all forms of 
corporate fund wages. FICA and IMRF revenues and expenses are both components 
of the Retirement Fund.  The water and sewer enterprise fund supports its share of 



 

 
2301 E. Sand Lake Road • www.lindenhurstil.org • mail@lindenhurstil.org • (847) 356-8252 

 

this expense through within the enterprise fund itself. The proposed levy supported 
by property taxes is $81,550 which is $2,154 (2.7%) higher when compared to the 
previous year.  
 
Liability Insurance  
Property taxes also are used to support a proportion of the cost of our liability and 
workers compensation insurance premiums.  The cost of liability insurance premiums 
assigned to each fund is based upon each fund’s respective proportion of total 
expenses.  Premium expenses for liability insurance are split 48% from the General 
Fund and 52% from the Water/Sewer Fund.  Similarly, the workers compensation 
premiums are apportioned based upon each funds’ proportion of total payroll.  For 
ease of cost accounting, the workers compensation premium share between the 
funds is approximated at 70% General Fund, 25% Water/Sewer Fund, and 5% Garbage 
Fund.  The tax levy will then support the 48% share of liability insurance premiums 
and 70% of the workers compensation premiums owed by the General Fund. 
 
We have not yet received the cost of our liability insurance premium for the coming 
calendar year.  Our forecast historically operated on an inflationary increase of 5% 
year over year.  For purposes of our forecast, for this year, I have calculated an 
increase in overall premiums of 7%.  This results in a premium increase of $9,095 
attributed to General Fund operations.  The total portion of the levy dedicated to 
insurance premiums is $142,681. 
 
Corporate Fund 
After fully funding our corporate fund costs for pensions and insurance, all remaining 
dollars are placed in the corporate levy line item.  As was stated earlier, the corporate 
levy is what supports General Fund operations.  How much revenue can be realized 
by the General Fund from the property tax levy depends on the overall equalized 
assessed value within the Village, any new property that may be accepted into the 
levy, and the Village’s approach to setting the total levy.  This year, the Village’s 
estimated EAV is $421,551,555 an increase of 8.3% from the previous year.  However, 
the Village also will receive over $2.68M in new construction EAV which is higher than 
the previous year which would now make it the highest new construction level in nine 
years.  After funding all other components of the levy, the General Fund can anticipate 
receiving approximately $376,157. 
 
As was included in last year’s memorandum, I have prepared two variations of how 
the 2023 tax levy could be calculated.  Each scenario represents the upper and lower 



 

 
2301 E. Sand Lake Road • www.lindenhurstil.org • mail@lindenhurstil.org • (847) 356-8252 

 

limits of the property tax levy using the assumption that the Village will accept all new 
construction in its levy calculation.  The lower tax levy value is based upon the Village 
not making a Consumer Price Index (CPI) adjustment to the levy.  The higher value 
includes the full CPI escalator into the calculation.  This year, because of high 
inflationary values, the Illinois Department of Revenue has set the CPI at 5% for the 
purposes of property tax rate setting.  If the Village Board adjusted the levy by the full 
5% CPI, we will likely have to conduct a Truth in Taxation hearing as the full levy will 
increase by an amount greater than 5% when you include new construction.  We could 
also reduce the inflationary increase by an amount that would not cause the levy to 
increase over 5%. 
 
Below you will see some more information about the scenarios for the property tax 
levy: 
 
Pay Year 2023 Tax Rate = .331343 
 
0% CPI Property Tax Levy Increase, with New Property Added 
Total EAV:  $421,551,555 
Total 2023 Levy Amount:  $1,298,376 
Levy Change from Previous Year:  $8,285 (.64% Increase) 
Estimated Property Tax Rate:  .307989 (8.2% Decrease) 
Estimated Village of Lindenhurst Tax on a $250k home:  $256.66 (7.0% Decrease) 
 
5% CPI Property Tax Levy Increase, with New Property Added 
Total EAV:  $421,551,555 
Total 2023 Levy Amount:  $1,363,293 
Levy Change from Previous Year:  $73,202 (5.7% Increase) 
Estimated Property Tax Rate:  .323388 (2.3% Decrease) 
Estimated Village of Lindenhurst Tax on a $250k home:  $269.49 (2.4% Decrease) 
 
A preliminary Village forecast is included in your materials which utilizes the 0% CPI 
increase as the basis for calculating property taxes.  No changes were made to 
water/sewer rates (or the capital fee), but there is a 3% increase calculated for 
garbage rates.  The forecast is for illustrative purposes and is not a recommendation 
for future rate setting at this time. 
 
 
 



 

 
2301 E. Sand Lake Road • www.lindenhurstil.org • mail@lindenhurstil.org • (847) 356-8252 

 

 
ESTIMATED 2023 TAX LEVY SCENARIOS 

 

 2022 Actual Levy 
0% CPI, New 
Property Added 

5% CPI, New 
Property Added 

    

Corporate Fund 534,452 376,157 
 
441,074 

    
IMRF 61,845 58,094 58,094 
    
Police Pension 472,347 641,884 641,884 
    
Social Security  80,837 79,561 79,561 
    
Insurance 133,587 140,060 140,060 
    
Recapture* 7,023 TBD TBD 
    
Total  1,290,091 1,298,377 1,363,294 

 
*Pursuant to Senate Bill 508 which was signed into law, starting in the 2021 Tax Year, all taxing districts’ 
levies shall be increased by a prior year adjustment whenever there is an assessment decrease due to 
error or property tax appeals.  The amount of recapture is determined by Lake County and is levied 
automatically as part of the Village’s levy.  This amount does not impact PTELL imposed property tax 
caps.  As of this date, we do not know what this amount will be for the next property tax year. 
 
Grand Avenue TIF Property Tax Increment 
While not related to the property tax rate setting exercise, our staff estimates that 
approximately $65,000 will be receipted from increment generated from the Grand 
Avenue Redevelopment District.  Village staff reviewed tax bills for 102 properties 
within the TIF to understand how much may be receipted within the 2023 Pay Year.  
We were unsure how much money would actually be generated into the TIF in Year 
1, so nothing was included in our budget, and monies received would be placed into 
escrow.  The Village has an option to begin a budget amendment process to create 
the new TIF fund, or wait until year end and transfer those funds into a new fund 
beginning May 1.   



 

 
2301 E. Sand Lake Road • www.lindenhurstil.org • mail@lindenhurstil.org • (847) 356-8252 

 

 
The Finance Committee can evaluate the forecasting and impact of the tax levy 
scenarios and form a recommendation to the Village Board at our November 6th 
meeting. 
 
 



December 

Vear CPI-U 

1991 137.900 

1992 141.900 

1993 145.800 

1994 149.700 

1995 153.500 

1996 158.960 

1997 161.300 

1998 163.900 

1999 168.300 

2000 174.000 

2001 176.700 

2002 180.900 

2003 184.300 

2004 190.300 

2005 196.800 

2006 201.800 

2007 210.036 

2008 210.228 

2009 215.949 

2010 219.179 

2011 225.672 

2012 229.601 

2013 233.049 

2014 234.812 

2015 236.525 

2016 241.432 

2017 246.524 

2018 251.233 

2019 256.974 

2020 260.474 

2021 278.802 

2022 296.797 

Illinois Dept. of Revenue 

History of CPl's Used for the PTELL 

01/12/2023 

% Change 

From 

Previous % Use for 

December PTELL Comments levy Year 

--

2.9% 2.9% 1993 

2.7% 2.7% (5 % for Cook) 1994 

2.7% 2.7% 1995 

2.5% 2.5% 1996 

3.6% 3.6% 1997 

1.5% 1.5% 1998 

1.6% 1.6% 1999 

2.7% 2.7% 2000 

3.4% 3.4% 2001 

1.6% 1.6% 2002 

2.4% 2.4% 2003 

1.9% 1.9% 2004 

3.3% 3.3% 2005 

3.4% 3.4% 2006 

2.5% 2.5% 2007 

4.08% 4.1% 2008 

0.1% 0.1% 2009 

2.7% 2.7% 2010 

1.5% 1.5% 2011 

3.0% 3.0% 2012 

1.7% 1.7% 2013 

1.5% 1.5% 2014 

0.8% 0.8% 2015 

0.7% 0.7% 2016 

2.1% 2.1% 2017 

2.1% 2.1% 2018 

1.9% 1.9% 2019 

2.3% 2.3% 2020 

1.4% 1.4% 2021 

7.0% 5.0% 2022 

6.5% 5.0% 2023 

Years Taxes 

Paid 

1994 

1995 

1996 

1997 

1998 

1999 

2000 

2001 

2002 

2003 

2004 

2005 

2006 

2007 

2008 

2009 

2010 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

2020 

2021 

2022 

2023 

2024 

CPI History (R-01/23) Printed by the authority of the State of Illinois – web only, 1 copy






















































